## **RECEIVED**

No.93465-7

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

No. 73347-8-I

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

Key Development Pension, Plaintiff - Appellant

v.

Clyde E. Carlson and Priscilla A. Carlson, Defendants-Respondents

# ON APPEAL FROM SKAGIT COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT (Hon. David R. Needy)

## APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Stephan E. Todd, WSBA # 12429 14319 15<sup>th</sup> Drive SE Mill Creek, WA 98012 (425) 585-0274 Attorney for Key Development Pension, Appellant

###

#### III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENT FOR REVIEW

In this promissory notes collection action, the Petitioner asks this Court to review the following single issue.

1. <u>Application of the Usury Statute</u>. Whether the usury defense can be raised by one who is not by adversity and necessity of economic life driven to borrow money at any cost.

For the reasons set forth below, this issue warrants review because the Decision is in conflict with prior decisions of this Court (RAP 13.4(b)(1)), is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals (RAP 13.4(b)(2)), and involves an issue of substantial public interest (RAP 13.4(b)(4)).

#### IV. NATURE OF THE CASE AND DECISION BELOW

This case arises out of the collection action by Petitioner Key Development Pension ("Key") to collect on two promissory notes executed by the Respondents Clyde and Priscilla Carlson ("Carlson"). Carlson disputed the claims of Key and raised the affirmative defense of usury alleging that the loans were personal loans and because they provided for an interest rate exceeding the maximum rate for consumer loans, the loans were usurious. Carlson asked the trial court to dismiss Key's claims, cancel the notes, award Carlson a judgment against Key for the amount of interest paid, and award Carlson the attorney's fees and costs incurred in the litigation.

The first loan was made in November 2000 and Carlson made interest only payments every year beginning in 2001 with the last interest payments made in the fall of 2010. The second loan was made in April 2002 again providing for interest only payments. Both loans initially had an annual interest rate of 18%. No payments were ever made towards the principal of either note. Each and every payment on both notes was made on a check drawn on either the business accounts of Northwest Seaplanes, Inc. or San Juan Air, a trade name used by Northwest. When Key sued in 2012 to collect the principal amount of the notes together with accrued interest, Carlson claimed for the first time that the loans were for personal use and the interest rate charged was in violation of Washington's usury statute, RCW 19.52.020.

Carlson did not represent to Key that he was borrowing the money for personal use. Indeed, Clyde Carlson testified that he did not recall any conversation with either Mr. Johnson or Mr. Carlson about his intentions. CP 174, FF 8.

In 2000 and 2002, when these loans were made, Carlson owned his primary residence in Seattle, a vacation home in Chelan, Washington with two adjacent unimproved lots, a vacation home in Arizona, several airplanes, and an airplane hangar in Chelan, Washington. Carlson had owned another unimproved lot in Arizona which was sold in 2000. Mr. Carlson testified at trial that the loan proceeds from the 2000 loan were used to buy another vacation apartment in Campbell River, British Columbia, and to remodel the vacations homes in Arizona and in Chelan Washington. Mr. Carlson also testified that the proceeds from the second loan were used to pay a settlement connected with his father's estate

The tax returns of Northwest Seaplanes, Inc. showed that in 2000, the year the first loan from Key was made, Clyde Carlson, the sole-shareholder of Northwest Seaplanes, Inc., loaned over \$87,000 to his company. In 2001, Carlson also made an additional loan to Northwest Seaplanes, Inc. and at the end of 2001 Northwest Seaplanes, Inc. reported nearly \$250,000.00 in outstanding loans from Mr. Carlson.

At the conclusion of the bench trial, the trial judge held that Key had failed to meet its burden of proof that the loans were primarily for agricultural, commercial, investment, or business purposes and thus the court concluded the loans violated the usury law. The trial judge entered a judgment against Key in the amount of \$441,770 plus attorney fees and costs. However, the court did make the following finding:

At the time the loans from the Plaintiff were made in 2000 and 2002, the Defendants were not needy borrowers who by adversity and necessity of economic life, were driven to borrow money at any cost from an unconscionable money lender. The Defendants were not desperate in 2000 and 2002 at the time they borrowed the money. The Defendants had the ability to move and transfer assets and possessions and property and were not one (sic) the door of destitution at that time.

CP 177, FF 21.

After the entry of the judgment, Key appealed to Division I of the Court of Appeals. That court resolved the appeal by a decision affirming the judgment in favor of the Respondents. The Petitioner now seeks review by this Court of a single issue raised by the decision of the Court of Appeals.

#### V. REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

1. The Court of Appeal's Decision (App. A) is in conflict with this Courts holding in *Brown v. Giger*, 111 Wn.2d 76, 757 P.2d 523(1988).

In 1988, this Court decided *Brown v. Giger*, 111 Wn.2d 76, 757 P.2d 523(1988). In that case Giger had borrowed money Brown to lend to her friend so the friend could purchase a business. When the friend stopped making payments, Giger defaulted and the lender sued. Giger

raised the defense of usury claiming that because she had no interest in the friend's business and the loan to her was a personal loan subject to the usury limit. A summary judgment motion was brought by the lender and the trial court concluded that the loan was for a business purpose and, under RCW 19.52.080, exempt from the usury laws.

Division II of the Court of Appeals reversed, not because they found a disputed issue of fact, but because they concluded as a matter of law that the loan to Giger was a personal loan and subject to the usury limit set forth in RCW 19.52.020. *Brown v. Giger*, 48 Wn. App. 172, 738 P.2d 312 (1987) This Court accepted review and concluded that as a matter of law the loan was for a purpose falling within the exemption set forth in RCW 19.52.080.

Although the case had been decided by the trial judge on a summary judgment motion, and the Court of Appeals had apparently viewed the facts differently than the trial court when concluding that the loan was for personal use, this Court did not remand the case back to the trial court for a trial to resolve this apparent factual dispute. This Court concluded, despite the factual disparities, and as a matter of law, that the borrower there was not the type of individual that the usury statute was designed to protect and the exemption under RCW 19.52.080 applied. Below is the entire part II of this Court's decision in *Brown*.

Washington's usury statutes, like those of other states, are designed "to protect the needy borrower from the unconscionable moneylender" by prohibiting interest charges that exceed a statutory maximum. Sparkman & McLean Co. v. Govan Inv. Trust, 78 Wash.2d 584, 588, 478 P.2d 232 (1970). "The protection granted is based on the fact that many borrowers are powerless to resist the avarice of the money lenders." Baske v. Russell, 67 Wash.2d 268, 273, 407 P.2d 434 (1965).

Interest ceilings are not always beneficial, however. Because they limit the availability of credit for high risk enterprises, usury restrictions have been criticized as "purposeless control and restraint of businesses." Note, Usury Legislation--Its Effects on the Economy and a Proposal for Reform, 33 Vand.L.Rev. 199, 219 (1980). Nor are the restrictions always necessary. Corporations, banks and other financial institutions, as well as individual investors, being accustomed to financial operations and familiar with the worth of money in the market from day to day, might well be deemed to require no statutory protection against being forced by their financial necessities to pay excessive interest for moneys borrowed. Sparkman & McLean, 78 Wash.2d at 589, 478 P.2d 232 (quoting Griffith v. Connecticut, 218 U.S. 563, 570, 31 S.Ct. 132, 54 L.Ed. 1151 (1910)).

Washington's "business purpose" usury exemption, RCW 19.52.080, is responsive to these observations. Since its enactment in 1969, the exemption has removed the constraints of the usury restrictions from a steadily broadening class of financial transactions. Until 1975, the exemption denied the defense of usury to certain entities and persons "in the business of lending money or the development or improvement of real estate". Laws of 1969, 1st Ex. Sess., ch. 142, § 1, p. 1039; Laws of 1970, 1st Ex. Sess., ch. 97, § 2, p. 762. From 1975 to 1981, the exemption applied to an expanded group of entities and persons with respect to transactions of \$50,000 or more made "exclusively for commercial or business purposes". Laws of 1975, 1st Ex. Sess., ch. 180, § 1, p. 616. And since

1981, still more entities fall within the scope of the exemption, and exempt transactions are now those of any amount made "primarily for agricultural, commercial, investment, or business purposes". RCW 19.52.080.

We discern in this steady withdrawal of the usury restraints the Legislature's intent to limit application of the usury laws to those situations in which the statutory restrictions are most urgently required. The evil at which the usury laws are aimed, as we have said, is oppression of the borrower "who by adversity and necessity of economic life [is] driven to borrow money at any cost." Baske, 67 Wash.2d at 273, 407 P.2d 434. One who incurs a debt "primarily for agricultural, commercial, investment, or business purposes", RCW 19.52.080, is not subject to such oppression, as he does not borrow out of "adversity and necessity of economic life". Thus, RCW 19.52.080 denies to this person the protections against usury.

The exemption is not a mean spirited one, however. Its purpose is positive: to free up credit for those whose ventures could not be financed at below-usury rates. Enacted and expanded during a time of rising interest rates and increasing criticisms of usury restrictions, the "business purpose" exemption functions as an "escape valve-something that would relieve the adverse pressure which the usury laws were exerting on legitimate commercial activities." Shanks, Practical Problems in the Application of Archaic Usury Statutes, 53 Va.L.Rev. 327, 347 (1967).

Brown v. Giger, 111 Wn.2d at 79 - 81. (Emphasis Added).

As noted above, the trial judge in the case at bar had found that Carlson, at the time the loans were made, "were not needy borrowers who by adversity and necessity of economic life were driven to borrow money at any cost from an unconscionable money lender." Because of this

unchallenged finding, Key argued in the Court of Appeals that the defense of usury was not available to Carlson, relying on the *Brown* case and Division I's own opinion in *Stevens v. Sec. Pac. Mortgage Corp.*, 53 Wn. App. 507, 768 P.2d 1007 (1989) discussed below. The Court of Appeals in the Decision characterized part II of this Court's opinion in *Brown* and its conclusion that Giger was not "by adversity and necessity . . . driven to borrow money at any cost" as "dicta". Decision at 16.

If this Court's lengthy analysis and conclusion in *Brown* is "dicta" then as Judge Dore concluded in his dissent, the matter should have been remanded to the trial court for trial because of the fact dispute. *Brown v. Giger*, 111 Wn.2d at 91 (Justice Dore, Dissenting). The determination of whether a loan is primarily for a business purpose is a mixed question of law and fact. *Marashi v. Lannen*, 55 Wn. App. 820, 823, 780 P.2d 1341 (1989). The facts are determined by the trier of fact and reviewed by the appellate courts to determine whether the facts are supported by substantial evidence. *Pardee v. Jolly*, 163 Wn.2d 558, 566, 182 P.2d 967 (2008). Summary judgment, however, is not appropriate if there are disputed issues of material facts. The facts of the Brown case as set forth in the court of appeals published decision and in this Court's published opinion differ on what Giger represented to be her interest in the business venture of her friend. If indeed those "facts" differ, then the only

explanation for this Court's decision that as a matter of law the loan to Giger was exempt from the application of the usury limits is if those disputed facts don't matter. As this Court concluded, Giger did not need to borrow the money and therefore the usury statute was not intended to protect her in that situation. That is an issue of law reviewed *de novo*.

Jansen v. Nu-West, Inc., 102 Wn.App. 423, 434-435, 6 P.3d 98 (2000).

Based on the undisputed fact that Giger was not by adversity or necessity of economic life compelled to borrow money at any cost, this Court concluded that the usury limits did not apply and reinstated the trial court's judgment in favor of the lender.

The Court of Appeal's Decision fails to follow this Court's well-reasoned decision in *Brown* and this court should accept review to clarify the import of its opinion.

2. The Court of Appeals Decision is in conflict with its own opinion in Stevens v. Sec. Pac. Mortgage Corp., 53 Wn. App. 507, 768 P.2d 1007 (1989).

One year after this Court decided the *Brown* case, Division I of the Court of Appeals had before it the case of *Stevens v. Sec. Pac. Mortgage Corp.*, 53 Wn. App. 507, 768 P.2d 1007 (1989). In that case, Stevens had borrowed money from the mortgage company to purchase a luxury condominium. The lender charged her an interest rate of 18 ½ %. When

Stevens defaulted on the loan, the lender commenced foreclosure of the loan. Defending against the lawsuit Stevens claimed the loan violated the usury statute because the purpose of the loan was personal and the interest rate charged was, on its face, usurious. The trial court did not agree and entered judgment for the lender. On Appeal, Division I affirmed noting that "nothing suggests that Stevens was 'by adversity and necessity ... driven to borrow money at any cost" quoting the language from *Baske v. Russell*, 67 Wash.2d 268, 273, 407 P.2d 434 (1965). *Stevens*, 53 Wn. App. at 517. That is the same language the Court of Appeals now characterizes as "dicta".

The Court of Appeals in Stevens went on to hold:

In the present case, Stevens took advantage of the system to obtain financing for a luxury home that she otherwise would not have been able to obtain, and now seeks to raise the defense of usury. This is not the type of activity that the Legislature intended to protect in enacting the usury laws. Accordingly, we find that this loan falls within the exception for business loans.

Id. In other words, the Court of Appeals decided that even if the loan was for a personal use, like the borrower in *Brown*, Stevens did not need to borrow the money and the loan therefore falls within the "business purpose" exemption. This is a natural extension of this Court's holding in *Brown* that the legislature intended the usury laws to apply to those who "by adversity and necessity ... driven to borrow money at any cost"

# 3. This appeal involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be clarified by this Court.

This Court noted in its decision in *Brown* that usury statutes have been criticized as being unnecessary restraints on business and that the expansion of Washington's "business purpose" exemption is a positive reaction to these criticisms and designed to act as an "escape valve-something that would relieve the adverse pressure which the usury laws were exerting on legitimate commercial activities." *Brown* at 81.

Many states have usury laws that set limits on interest rates for loans. Those laws however, have been significantly weakened over the years by court decisions, and federal and state laws to the point of irrelevancy.

In Marquette National Bank v. First of Omaha Service Corp., 439 U.S. 299, 99 S.Ct. 540, 58 L.Ed2d 534 (1978) the United States Supreme Court unanimously held that nationally chartered banks may charge the highest rate allowed in the bank's home state. So even Washington's usury statute with its relatively low usury limit typically has no bearing on the interest you pay on your credit card.

The passage of the Depository Institutions Deregulation and Monetary Control Act of 1980 (DIDMCA) also erodes the effect of

Washington's usury law. This federal law allows all federally insured banks (including most state-chartered banks) to charge out-of-state customers the highest rate possible in the bank's home state. Indeed, in an effort to protect its own financial institutions, the Washington legislature passed a law that allows any depository financial institution authorized to do business and accept deposits in Washington State to have the same "most favored lender" power and status as national banking associations. *See*, RCW 30.04.025.

Federal law also preempts Washington's usury law in other cases. Washington's usury statute does not apply to loans, mortgages, credit sales or advances insured by any U. S. government agency or is regulated by a U. S. governmental agency. HUD, VA and FHA loans are not subject to Washington's usury statute. Loans available for purchase by Fannie Mae, Ginnie Mae or Freddie Mac are not subject to the usury statute. 12 U.S.C. 1735f-7A.

In addition to the "business purpose" exemption, the Washington legislature has also exempted other transactions from the state's usury limit: retail installment contracts, RCW 19.52.100; interest charges by broker-dealers, RCW 19.52.110; sales contracts with deferred payment of purchase price, RCW 19.52.120; interest, penalties and costs on delinquent property taxes, RCW 19.52.140; and interest on some mobile

home loans, RCW 19.52.160.

Payday lenders licensed under RCW Chapter 31.45 can make certain loans exceeding the usury limits. Lease-purchases of personal property under RCW Chapter 63.19 are exempt from the usury law. There are other transactions authorized under Washington law where the state's usury laws do not apply supporting this Court's conclusion in *Brown* that the legislature intended to "limit application of the usury laws to those situations in which the statutory restrictions are most urgently required. The evil at which the usury laws are aimed, as we have said, is oppression of the borrower 'who by adversity and necessity of economic life [is] driven to borrow money at any cost.' " *Brown v. Giger, supra* at 81-82.

This Court should take this opportunity to clarify the reach of the usury statute and confirm the laws limited application to those situations where the most vulnerable, who by adversity and necessity of economic life, are preyed upon by unconscionable lenders.

#### VI. CONCLUSION