RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Sep 08, 2016, 4:24 pm

## **RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY**

#### No. 93465-7

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 73347-8-I Skagit County Superior Court Cause No. 12-2-02034-8

JACK A. JOHNSON, in his capacity as the trustee of KEY DEVELOPMENT PENSION, f/k/a G & G Meats Pension fund and Columbia Meat Products Pension Plan,

Appellant/Plaintiff,

v.

CLYDE E. CARLSON and PRISCILLA A. CARLSON, husband and wife, and the marital community composed thereof,

Respondents/Defendants.

#### ANSWER OF RESPONDENTS CLYDE E. CARLSON AND PRISCILLA A. CARLSON TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

### A. <u>Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because</u> the Court of Appeals Decision is consistent this Court's holding in *Brown v. Giger*.

Because the 18% interest rate on the Loans exceeded the statutorily-allowed maximum rate, the Loans are usurious on their face. The Trial Court relied on substantial evidence in making the factual findings in support of the conclusion of law that the Loans do not qualify for the business purpose exemption under RCW 19.52.080, and therefore the Loans violated the Usury Statute.

Despite the inapplicability of the business purpose usury exemption, the Pension Fund argued on appeal and in the Petition that the Usury Statute was not intended to protect someone in the position of Clyde and Priscilla Carlson based on the Trial Court's finding number 21 that they "were not needy borrowers who by adversity and necessity of economic life, were driven to borrow money at any cost from an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Ex. 59.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Exs. 54.

unconscionable money lender.<sup>40</sup> In other words, the Pension Fund argues for a broad expansion of the business purpose exemption whereby the protections of the Usury Statute would not apply to a loan for personal use if the borrower "did not need to borrow money at any cost."<sup>41</sup>

The flawed position is contrary to the plain language of the Usury Statute and would eliminate from its protections all individual borrowers, save those in the most desperate of financial situations.<sup>42</sup> The Usury Statute does not state, suggest, or even hint at the notion that its protections only apply to certain borrowers; those who resort to taking a usuriously high interest rate loan out of "adversity" and/or "necessity".<sup>43</sup> Indeed, the terms "adversity" and "necessity" are nowhere to be found in the Usury Statute.<sup>44</sup>

The absence of any express language in the Usury Statute even remotely supporting the Pension Fund's proposed "adversity and necessity" rule is noteworthy. In this regard, *Cosmopolitan Eng'g Grp., Inc. v. Ondeo Degremont, Inc.*, 159 Wn.2d 292, 149 P.3d 666, 669–70 (2006), provides the following guidance:

Our purpose when interpreting a statute is to "'discern and implement the intent of the legislature.'" *Id.* at 295, 126

- 43 Id.
- <sup>44</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> See Petition at 4-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> See RCW Ch. 19.52.

P.3d 802 (quoting *State v. J.P.*, 149 Wash.2d 444, 450, 69 P.3d 318 (2003)). Where the meaning of statutory language is plain on its face, we must give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent. *Id.* In discerning the plain meaning of a provision, we consider the entire statute in which the provision is found as well as related statutes or other provisions in the same act that disclose legislative intent. *Id.; Advanced Silicon Materials, L.L.C. v. Grant County,* 156 Wash.2d 84, 89–90, 124 P.3d 294 (2005); *Ellerman v. Centerpoint Prepress, Inc.,* 143 Wash.2d 514, 519, 22 P.3d 795 (2001). When a statute is ambiguous, we then resort to aids of construction, including legislative history.

The absence of any language in the Usury Statute that could be interpreted as limiting its protections to borrowers who resort to taking a usuriously high interest rate loan out of "adversity" and/or "necessity" is consistent with discussion of the evolution of the business purpose exemption over time in the portions of the opinion in *Brown v. Giger*, 111 Wn.2d 76, 757 P.2d 523 (1988) quoted extensively by the Pension Fund.<sup>45</sup> Specifically, the Pension Fund quotes verbatim, and relies heavily on, dicta in *Brown v. Giger* summarizing the history of legislative enactments which successively broadened the business purpose exemption over time to its present form. At this time the exemption applies to transactions of any amount made "primarily for agricultural, commercial, investment, or business purposes."<sup>46</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> See Appellant Petition at 6-7 (quoting Brown, 111 Wn. 2d at 79-81).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Brown, 757 P.2d at 525 (quoting RCW 19.52.080).

Attempting to persuade this Court to dramatically broaden the scope of the exemption intended by the legislature, the Pension Fund misconstrues the following dicta in *Brown v. Giger*:

The evil at which the usury laws are aimed, as we have said, is oppression of the borrower "who by adversity and necessity of economic life [is] driven to borrow money at any cost."

One who incurs a debt "primarily for agricultural, commercial, investment, or business purposes", RCW 19.52.080, is not subject to such oppression, as he does not borrow out of "adversity and necessity of economic life". Thus, RCW 19.52.080 denies to this person the protections against usury.<sup>[47]</sup>

According to the Pension Fund, the above language means that the

business purpose exemption to the protections of the Usury Statute does not apply to borrowers "who by adversity and necessity of economic life" are "driven to borrow money at any cost."<sup>48</sup> Quite opposite, the abovequoted portion of *Brown v. Giger* actually establishes that "[o]ne who incurs a debt "primarily for agricultural, commercial, investment, or business purposes",<sup>49</sup> is not subject to such oppression, as he does not borrow out of "adversity and necessity of economic life."<sup>50</sup>

In other words, a borrower who obtains a debt for a primarily business purpose is not afforded the protections of the Usury Statute

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Brown, 757 P.2d at 526 (citation omitted) (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> See Petition at 4-9.

<sup>49</sup> See RCW 19.52.080.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Brown, 757 P.2d at 526..

because, by definition, such a "business purpose" borrower is not borrowing "out of adversity and necessity of economic life."<sup>51</sup> The inverse claim of the Pension Fund – that a showing of "adversity and necessity of economic life" is a prerequisite to the protections of the Usury Statute (regardless of the purpose of the loan) – is not a logical corollary, and not supported by the plain language of the Usury Statute.<sup>52</sup>

Other cases addressing the applicability of the business purpose exemption do not support the position that the Carlsons should be exempted from the protection of the Usury Statute in this case.<sup>53</sup> "[W]hen a loan is usurious on its face, as in the present case, the burden is upon the lender to prove that its loan qualifies for the narrow transaction exemption."<sup>54</sup> "The borrower's intended use for the loan proceeds must be characterized according to the manifestations of intent, if any, that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> *Id.; see also* RCW Ch. 19.52. The folly of concluding that *Brown v. Giger* stands for the proposition that only a borrower facing "adversity and necessity of economic life" should receive Usury Statute protections is further shown in light of the fact that the opinion directly quotes *Baske v. Russell*, 67 Wn.2d 268, 273, 407 P.2d 434, 437 (1965), decided in 1965 when the business purpose exemption was limited in that it only "denied the defense of usury to certain entities and persons 'in the business of lending money or the development or improvement of real estate". *Brown*, 757 P.2d at 526 (quoting prior enactments).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Aetna Fin. Co. v. Darwin, 38 Wn. App. 921, 924–25, 691 P.2d 581 (1984); see also, Trust of Strand v. Wel-Co Grp., 120 Wn. App. 828, 835, 86 P.3d 818 (2004).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Aetna Finance Co., 38 Wn. App. at 924–25; see also Trust of Strand, 120 Wn. App. at 835.

borrower made to the lender at the time the parties entered into the loan contract."<sup>55</sup>

"Washington cases consistently have noted the importance of objective indications of purpose in determining the applicability of the 'business purpose' exemption." <sup>56</sup> Moreover, in all cases where the business purpose exemption under RCW 19.52.080 has been satisfied, there has been a written representation by the individual borrower in the loan documents indicating that the loan was intended for a business purpose or it has been undisputed that the loan was intended for a business purpose.<sup>57</sup>

In Washington, it is the "general rule that, for the purposes of showing usury in a written contract, parol or extrinsic evidence is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> Aetna Finance Co., 38 Wn. App. at 927–28 ("The lender's purpose for the loan, which is almost always is a business purpose, is irrelevant"); Brown, 111 Wn. 2d at 82 (quoting Aetna Finance Co., 38 Wn. App. at 927).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Brown, 111 Wn. 2d at 82.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> We have uncovered no reported Washington cases that have applied the business purpose exemption based upon the lender's testimony alone. See Paulman v. Filtercorp, 127 Wn.2d 387, 394, 899 P.2d 1259 (1995) (undisputed that loan proceeds were intended for borrower's business purposes); Brown, 111 Wn. 2d at 82 (loan documents include borrower's representations that loan was for a business or commercial purpose); Trust of Strand, 120 Wn. App. at 832 (loan agreement included representation from borrower that the loan was to be used exclusively for business purposes); Jansen v. Nu-W., Inc., 102 Wn. App. 432, 435, 6 P.3d 98 (2000), as amended on reconsideration (Sept. 21, 2000) (borrower representation in note that loan proceeds were to be used for business or commercial purposes),; Thweatt v. Hommel, 67 Wn. App. 135, 138, 834 P.2d 1058 (1992) (borrower signed affidavit for business purpose in connection with loan); Stevens, 53 Wn. App. at 516 (loan documents indicated loan was for business purposes); Pacesetter Real Estate, Inc. v. Fasules, 53 Wn. App. 463, 472, 767 P.2d 961 (1989) (borrower's acknowledgement of commercial loan in note and commercial borrower); Gemperle v. Crouch, 44 Wn. App. 772, 773, 724 P.2d 375 (1986) (undisputed that loan was for commercial purposes).

admissible, the parol evidence rule not being applicable to such a situation."<sup>58</sup> However, the Pension Fund completely lacks the necessary evidence that the Loans were intended "primarily" for "commercial, investment or business purposes" at the inception. The Notes are issued to the Carlsons and the checks representing the proceeds of the Loans are the only objective documentary evidence available for the Loans from the time they were issued. Notably, the borrowers on the Notes were Mr. and Mrs. Carlson personally and the Notes lack any representation by the Carlsons (or anyone else) that the proceeds from the Loans were to be used for commercial or other business purposes as is the customary practice for business loans. Similarly, the checks were made payable to Clyde personally, not to a business.

The Notes were drafted by the Pension Fund's attorney, Mr. Todd. Mr. Todd was clearly aware of Washington's usury laws yet did not request that Carlson represent that the Loan proceeds were to be used for commercial or business purposes.<sup>59</sup> In fact, in the documentation for subsequent loans made by the Pension Fund and by Jack, Mr. Todd specifically requested that the corrower represent that the loan funds would be used solely for business purposes. This evidence establishes that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Ostiguy v. A. F. Franke Const., Inc., 55 Wn.2d 350, 358, 347 P.2d 1049, 1053–54 (1959), citing Auve v. Fagnant, 16 Wn.2d 669, 134 P.2d 454 (1943).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Mr. Todd was admitted to the Washington State Bar in 1982, a fact to which this Court may take judicial notice. *See* ER 201.

Mr. Todd knew to include such representations when a loan was to be used by a borrower for business purposes at the time it was issued.

۰.

The only evidence available supporting the notion that the Loans were intended for business purposes at their inception is the testimony of Jack and Gary, which was insufficient to establish that Carlson intended to use the Loan proceeds for business purposes at the inception. As discussed above, Washington Courts that have determined that a loan was primarily for a business purpose under RCW 19.52.080, have done so by relying on representations made by a borrower in the loan documents themselves.<sup>60</sup>

## B. <u>Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because</u> the Court of Appeals Decision is consistent the Court of Appeal's holding in *Stevens*.

Aside from the Pension Fund's strained reading of the dicta in Brown v. Giger, that case, along with the Stevens v. Sec. Pac. Mortgage Corp., 53 Wn. App. 507, 516, 768 P.2d 1007 (1989) case on which the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> See Paulman, 127 Wn. 2d 387 (undisputed that loan proceeds were intended for borrower's business purposes); Brown, 111 Wn. 2d 76 (loan documents include borrower's representations that loan was for a business or commercial purpose); Trust of Strand, 120 Wn. App. 828 (loan agreement included representation from borrower that the loan was to be used exclusively for business purposes); Jansen, 102 Wn. App. 432 (note included a business purpose declaration from borrower); Castronuevo v. Gen. Acceptance Corp., 79 Wn. App. 747, 905 P.2d 387 (1995) (borrower representation that loan proceeds were to be used for business or commercial purposes in note); Thweatt, 67 Wn. App. at 138 (borrower signed affidavit for business purpose in connection with loan); Stevens, 53 Wn. App. 507 (loan documents indicated loan was for business purposes); Pacesetter Real Estate, Inc., 53 Wn. App. 463 (borrower's acknowledgement of commercial loan in note and commercial borrower); Gemperle, 44 Wn. App. 772 (undisputed that loan was for commercial purposes).

Pension Fund misplaces reliance, are readily distinguishable. <sup>61</sup> Specifically, in both *Brown v. Giger* and *Stevens*, the loan documents indicated the loan was for a *business* purpose.<sup>62</sup> In contrast, there is no indication in the Carlson Loan documents that the Loans are for a business purpose, a significant omission establishing that the Loans were for personal use, *i.e.*, a determination bolstered by extrinsic evidence that Carlson used the loans for personal uses.

.....as

Contrary to the Pension Fund's urging, the Court of Appeals Decision is consistent with prior published opinions, including *Stevens*. Evidence of the consistency is found in the fact the opinion is unpublished. It is a straight forward application of the statute to the facts.

## C. <u>Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because</u> the Court of Appeals Decision was based on the unambiguous language of the Usury Statute and therefore does not involve an issue of substantial public interest to be decided by this Court.

The Pension Fund contends that review of the Court of Appeals decision is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) citing a number of examples of federal and state statutes which exempt a variety of transactions from the Usury Statute and arguing that as a result usury laws are less relevant in today's economy. However, nowhere in its argument does the Pension Fund demonstrate why this case, a private transaction between two parties,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> See Appellant Petition at 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> Brown, 757 P.2d at 525; Stevens, 53 Wn. App. at 516.

involves any issue of any public interest, much less substantial public interest. The increase of specific state and federal statutes exempting various other transactions from state usury laws has not created a new legal issue of substantial public interest requiring Supreme Court review of the exemption applicable in this case.

A case involves an issue of "substantial public interest" where it affects individuals and cases beyond the parties to the particular proceeding.<sup>63</sup> In this regard, the role of the Court is to interpret and apply statutes.<sup>64</sup> As it relates to the Court of Appeals Decision, the Usury Statute is unambiguous and no clarification is needed. The Court of Appeals correctly noted that the purpose of the Usury Statute "is 'to protect the residents of this state from debts bearing burdensome interest rates' on consumer loans."<sup>65</sup> A consumer loan is "primarily for personal, family, or household purposes."<sup>66</sup> This Court should not rewrite the plain and clear language of the Usury Statute at the Pension Fund's behest to exclude certain citizens of this State from its protections as is argued by the Pension Fund.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005).
 <sup>64</sup> Cosmopolitan Engineering Group, Inc., 149 P.3d at 669-70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> See Court of Appeals Decision at 17; see also RCW 19.52.005.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> See RCW 19.52.080.

### V. CARLSON IS ENTITLED TO FEES AND COSTS

Carlson is entitled to fees and costs incurred to answer the Petition. In this regard, RAP 18.1(j) provides, "[i]f attorney fees and expenses are awarded to the party who prevailed in the Court of Appeals, and if a petition for review to the Supreme Court is subsequently denied, reasonable attorney fees and expenses may be awarded for the prevailing party's preparation and filing of the timely answer to the petition for review." Carlson was correctly awarded its fees and costs on appeal by the Court of Appeals.<sup>67</sup> Accordingly, this Court should award Carlson fees and costs upon denying the Petition for Review.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals Decision is consistent with Washington law, which holds that loans made at the time of inception "primarily for commercial, investment or business purposes" do not qualify for the limited "business purpose" exemption under RCW 19.52.080 of the Usury Statute. The decision does not present an issue of substantial public

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> See Court of Appeals Decision at 17 and n. 12. The determination was proper under RAP 14.1 et seq. and RAP 18.1. Indeed, both of the Notes provide that the prevailing party in a collection action is entitled to an award of attorneys' fees and costs. (Exs. 51, 55) RCW 4.84.330 awards attorney fees authorized by contract. The Usury Statute, RCW 19.52.032, is complementary to, and not in conflict with, RCW 4.84.330. Jansen, 6 P.3d at 104 (citing King v. W. United Assur. Co., 100 Wn. App. 556, 561, 997 P.2d 1007 (2000)). See, e.g., Jansen, 102 Wn. App. 432; Olympic S.S. Co., Inc. v. Centennial Ins. Co., 117 Wn.2d 37, 51–54, 811 P.2d 673, 680–82 (1991); Butzberger v. Foster, 151 Wn.2d 396, 89 P.3d 689 (2004).

interest. Accordingly, the Court should deny the Petition for Review. Per

RAP 18.1(j), Carlson is entitled to fees and costs to answer the Petition.